

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

FAO Statistics Working Paper Series

Issue 23-38

FALL ARMYWORM: MEASURING DAMAGE AND LOSS CAUSED BY A NOVEL INVASIVE PEST AS A GUIDE TO SUSTAINABLE MANAGEMENT

FAO Statistics Working Paper Series / 23-38

FALL ARMYWORM: MEASURING DAMAGE AND LOSS CAUSED BY A NOVEL INVASIVE PEST AS A GUIDE TO SUSTAINABLE MANAGEMENT

Charles Midega, Buyung Hadi, Shawn McGuire, Zehra Zaidi and Priti Rajagopalan

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Rome, 2023 Required citation:

Midega, C., Hadi, B., McGuire, S., Zaidi, Z. & Rajagopalan, P. 2023. *Fall armyworm: measuring damage and loss caused by a novel invasive pest as a guide to sustainable management*. Statistics Working Paper Series, No. 23-38. Rome, FAO. https://doi.org/10.4060/cc8140en

The designations employed and the presentation of material in this information product do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) concerning the legal or development status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. The mention of specific companies or products of manufacturers, whether or not these have been patented, does not imply that these have been endorsed or recommended by FAO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned.

The views expressed in this information product are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of FAO.

ISBN 978-92-5-138243-1

© FAO, 2023



Some rights reserved. This work is made available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo/legalcode).

Under the terms of this licence, this work may be copied, redistributed and adapted for non-commercial purposes, provided that the work is appropriately cited. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that FAO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the FAO logo is not permitted. If the work is adapted, then it must be licensed under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If a translation of this work is created, it must include the following disclaimer along with the required citation: "This translation was not created by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). FAO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original [Language] edition shall be the authoritative edition."

Disputes arising under the licence that cannot be settled amicably will be resolved by mediation and arbitration as described in Article 8 of the licence except as otherwise provided herein. The applicable mediation rules will be the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules and any arbitration will be conducted in accordance with the Arbitration Rules of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL).

Third-party materials. Users wishing to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, are responsible for determining whether permission is needed for that reuse and for obtaining permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

Sales, rights and licensing. FAO information products are available on the FAO website (www.fao.org/publications) and can be purchased through publications-sales@fao.org. Requests for commercial use should be submitted via: www.fao.org/contact-us/licence-request. Queries regarding rights and licensing should be submitted to: copyright@fao.org

Abstract

The rise in global trade and human mobility, along with climate change-induced shifts in weather patterns, has led to the rapid transmission of invasive insect species, causing threats to agriculture, crop productivity, and public health. The fall armyworm (FAW), originally from the Americas, has become an invasive and highly destructive pest, causing significant agricultural losses worldwide. This paper aims to present a comprehensive analysis of FAW-induced maize losses, drawing from a diverse source of both qualitative and quantitative assessments.

As a first step, a systematic review has been conducted to meticulously collate and synthesize data from diverse sources with a focus on experimental data.¹ It adheres to rigorous scientific standards and employs robust analytical techniques, offering a valuable resource for researchers, policymakers and stakeholders invested in addressing the challenges posed by this invasive pest. Based on this analysis and to enhance the comprehension of the correlation between yield reduction and key factors, particularly the intensity of pest pressure, a series of regression analyses have been conducted. To estimate the direct economic yield loss potential of FAW in the field in the absence of management, a model has been proposed.

The research on economic losses caused by FAW in Africa and Asia is currently limited in scope. Most studies have primarily focused on individual crops, notably maize, emphasizing quantity losses. It is imperative to expand the research to cover all key crops vulnerable to FAW infestations. Additionally, assessments should include quality losses and consider missed trade opportunities, particularly due to strict phytosanitary regulations for exporting agricultural products to regions such as Europe. This comprehensive approach is crucial for a more thorough understanding of the true economic impact of the FAW pest.

¹ Overton, K., Maino, J.L., Day, R., Umina, P.A., Bett, B., Carnovale, D., Ekesi, S., Meagher, R. & Reynolds, O.L. 2021. Global crop impacts, yield losses and action thresholds for fall armyworm (*Spodoptera frugiperda*): A review. *Crop Protection*, 145: 105641. doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2021.105641

Contents

Abstractiii				
Acknowledgementsvi				
1 Introduction1				
2 Background2				
2.1 Drivers of the rapid fall armyworm invasion2				
2.2 Early estimates of direct and indirect economic losses due to fall armyworm				
3 Methods3				
4 Results				
4.1 Measuring fall armyworm infestation and crop damage4				
4.2 Fall armyworm-induced yield losses5				
4.3 Pest pressure, severity of crop damage and yield loss				
4.4 Climate change and fall armyworm7				
4.5 Proposed model8				
5 Conclusions towards sustainable management of fall armyworm9				
References				

Acknowledgements

This paper has been drafted by Charles Midega, Buyung Hadi, Shawn McGuire, Zehra Zaidi and Priti Rajagopalan from the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). We appreciate the input of Roger Day, Anna Szyniszewska, and Bryony Taylor from CABI, as well as Kris Wykhuis and Fazil Dusunceli from FAO. We also acknowledge the support of the FAO Statistics Division in providing resources that enabled the process to be a success. This publication is part of the Flagship report on the impact of disasters on agriculture and food security. The objective is to provide a model showcasing the utilization of systematic review and secondary data to shape guidelines for examining the impact of specific disasters on agricultural losses.

1 Introduction

Invasive insect species have always been a threat to agriculture, crop productivity and health. Human mobility and a rise in the global trade of agricultural commodities have resulted in the higher and faster transmission of agricultural pests, pathogens and weeds. Increasing temperatures and shifting weather patterns due to climate change also favour the conditions necessary for breeding and spreading endemic and invasive pests. Transboundary pest infestations are slow-onset disasters that are increasingly exerting significant losses in agriculture in many parts of the world, which is a challenge that is likely to worsen as trade and tourism expand, and as environmental stressors like climate change and biodiversity loss become more severe (IPPC, 2021).

The fall armyworm (FAW) (*Spodoptera frugiperda*, J.E. Smith) is a new pest outside of the Americas. It is invasive, highly mobile and destructive, and causes severe agricultural losses globally, posing a major threat to agricultural development efforts in several countries. Understanding the extent of losses caused by such pests is key to implementing cost-effective and sustainable pest management approaches (Savary *et al.*, 2019). FAW is native to tropical and subtropical America, where it has been a major crop pest for many decades. Its first appearance outside the Americas occurred in January 2016, when a severe outbreak was reported in Western Africa (Goergen *et al.*, 2016). FAW's presence has now been confirmed in almost all of sub-Saharan Africa. The first report of FAW in Asia was confirmed in Karnataka (India) in 2018. Since then, the pest has been reported in other Indian states and several Asian countries, including Bangladesh, China, Sri Lanka, Thailand and Viet Nam. More recently, FAW was reported in Australia, the Canary Islands and New Caledonia (Kenis *et al.*, 2022) (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Global map of fall armyworm invasion

Source: FAO. 2023. Global Action for Fall Armyworm Control. In: FAO. [Cited October 2023]. www.fao.org/fall-armyworm/monitoring-tools/faw-map/en/

2 Background

2.1 Drivers of the rapid fall armyworm invasion

Genomic studies indicate that FAW entered Africa via multiple routes, primarily through trade (Nagoshi *et al.*, 2022; Tay *et al.*, 2022), with Western Africa serving as a major entry point. FAW, a highly polyphagous pest, prefers maize but can infest over 350 plant species, including important crops like rice, sorghum, wheat, cotton, sugarcane and soybean. The rapid spread of FAW in Africa is driven by its ability to exploit diverse host plants year-round, favourable warm climates, abundance of maize, prolific egg-laying (up to 2 000 eggs per female) and the capacity of adult moths to fly long distances, up to 100 kilometres in a single night. Models suggest that suitable environmental conditions for FAW are widespread in Africa, warmer parts of Asia, and some areas in southern Europe (Early *et al.*, 2018).

2.2 Early estimates of direct and indirect economic losses due to fall armyworm

FAW causes significant economic losses by reducing harvest yields and increasing pest control expenses. For instance, in 2009, Brazil spent approximately USD 600 million on FAW control. In Africa, early estimates of FAW-related losses varied between countries; for example, Ghana and Zambia experienced maize yield losses estimated at USD 284 and USD 198 million, respectively. The Centre for Agriculture and Bioscience International (CABI) extrapolated losses to be between USD 2.5 billion and USD 6.3 billion in 2017 across 12 African countries (Day *et al.*, 2017). Abrahams *et al.* (2017) estimated annual losses of up to USD 13 billion in maize, rice, sorghum and sugarcane across sub-Saharan Africa. These early estimates underscore the potentially devastating impact of this new pest. Consequently, assessing the extent of FAW damage is crucial to formulate effective responses to its invasion. Traditionally, FAW has been controlled in the Americas through insecticides and transgenic maize, methods not easily accessible to resource-constrained farmers in affected regions. Therefore, understanding the damage caused by FAW is essential for developing relevant and sustainable pest management strategies, especially within the framework of disaster risk reduction (DDR).

The FAW invasion has continued to negatively affect productivity of smallholder farming systems, making millions of smallholder farmers in Africa and Asia even more vulnerable. In addition to the direct impacts on agricultural systems and livelihoods of farming communities, FAW also causes indirect impacts, including negative ones on human health, but these have not been measured in any systematic way. Impacts of the invasion include increased use of synthetic pesticides, increased cost of pest management, reduced crop yields and farm-level income, and aggravated negative impacts on the environment, all of which have negative implications for welfare. For example, studies have reported that FAW-affected households were more likely to experience hunger, suggesting that severe levels of infestation reduced per capita household income by up to 44 percent and increased a household's likelihood of experiencing hunger by 17 percent in Zimbabwe (Tambo *et al.*, 2020).

3 Methods

Attributing crop damage and loss to FAW is challenging due to the diversity of crop species, crop varieties, plant growth cycles and stages, pest life stages, and other confounding factors like weather, soil health and the ecological forces affecting FAW. For example, plants can often compensate if damage occurs during an early stage of development, and if resources, including soil nutrients and moisture, are adequate (Trumble *et al.*, 1993), resulting in reduced effect on crop yields.

The paper is based on FAW-induced losses to maize from a range of data sources; peer-reviewed journal publications, institutional and agency reports and national reports on FAW infestation. For the peer-reviewed publications, a literature search in Web of Science was conducted between August and September 2022 using specific search terms as described in Overton *et al.* (2021), which yielded a total of 1 863 articles. Additional searches included published literature and reports of experiments that examined FAW management approaches, particularly those that included a positive control that could be used to calculate yield loss (Overton *et al.*, 2021). To identify additional reports, Google searches were conducted. The titles and abstracts of all articles were screened manually to identify relevant ones, which were then scrutinized in detail. Because of reported disparities between experimental data on yield losses and those reported from farmer perceptions and survey studies (Overton *et al.*, 2021), only sources that reported experimental field data were selected. The yield loss proportion was determined by dividing the observed yield by the positive control (or non-infested plot) yield and subtracting from 1. Additionally, a regression analysis was conducted, and a linear regression line plotted to help visualize the relationship between yield loss and key parameters including pest pressure.

4 Results

4.1 Measuring fall armyworm infestation and crop damage

From a review of published literature, institutional reports and other sources of data, the number of reports on impact of FAW on agriculture is increasing in Africa and Asia, although fewer reports are available for Asia. These are mostly plot-level assessments, with synthetic reviews or models only starting to be conducted. Indeed, this is only the second assessment after Overton *et al.* (2021) that attempts to establish the impact of FAW on production losses from available evidence. The review shows that infestation of FAW and its impact on maize is measured in diverse ways (**Table 1**), indicating that there are no standardized tools and procedures for these assessments.

ramatar	Mays of maggurament	Poforonco ovomnloc			
Table 1. Different ways through which FAW infestation, crop damage and yields have been assessed on					
	Different w	Different ways through which FAW infestation, crop damage	Different ways through which FAW infestation, crop damage and yields have been assessed of		

Parameter	Ways of measurement	Reference examples
FAW infestation	(i) Most reports measure incidence through	Aniwanou <i>et al.,</i> 2022; Tanyi
	estimation of proportions (%) of plants showing	<i>et al.,</i> 2020; Babendreier <i>et</i>
	damage symptoms caused by the pest, including	al., 2020; Roy et al., 2021;
	windowing and shot holes caused by young	Guera <i>et al.,</i> 2021; Bilbo <i>et</i>
	larvae, or a mass of holes on leaves and the	al., 2020
	whorl (funnel), ragged edges and larval frass	
	from older larvae (Figure 2).	
	(ii) Others assess infestation through the number	Cruz <i>et al.,</i> 1999; Deshmukh
	of FAW life stages (principally larvae) per unit	et al., 2020; Pereira and
	area, including plant, plot, acre or hectare.	Hellman, 1993
FAW-induced	Most studies use ordinal damage rating scales	Burtet <i>et al.,</i> 2017; Koffi <i>et</i>
crop damage	that include incidence and severity measures,	<i>al.,</i> 2022; Teixeira Silva <i>et</i>
	with Davis' (Davis et al., 1992) "0 to 9" whorl	<i>al.,</i> 2015; Agboyi <i>et al.,</i>
	damage scale (where 0 means no foliar damage	2021; Osae <i>et al.,</i> 2022
	and 9 represents total foliar damage) being the	
	most used, with modifications.	
Grain yields	Assessments based on weight of grain (and cobs)	Tanyi <i>et al.,</i> 2020;
	sampled at different scales, from cob to plant,	Deshmukh <i>et al.,</i> 2020; Koffi
	sample quadrat and plot.	et al., 2022

Source: Authors' own elaboration.

Figure 2. Symptoms of damage caused by young (left) and mature (right) FAW larvae feeding on maize



©FAO/Tamiru Legesse



©FAO/Steven Lazaro

4.2 Fall armyworm-induced yield losses

From farmer perception survey reports, FAW-induced yield losses to maize in sub-Saharan Africa have been estimated to be between 11 percent and 70 percent. These include yield reductions of up to 47 percent in Kenya and Ethiopia (Kumela *et al.*, 2019; De Groote *et al.*, 2020; Abro *et al.*, 2021), and 22–67 percent in Ghana and Zambia (Day *et al.*, 2017; Rwomushana *et al.*, 2018). However, lower estimates have also been reported for Malawi and Zambia (Harrison *et al.*, 2022). In Asia, yield losses have been estimated at 33 percent in India, and up to 32 and 40 percent in Bangladesh and Thailand, respectively (Balla *et al.*, 2019; Sagar *et al.*, 2020; Srikanth *et al.*, 2018). In the Americas, yield losses of up to 34 percent in Brazil (Lima *et al.*, 2010), 40 percent in Honduras (Wyckhuys and O'Neil, 2006), and 72 percent in Argentina (Murúa *et al.*, 2006) have also been reported.

Analysis of experimental data herein indicates that FAW-induced direct yield loss in maize ranges from 0.4 percent to 94.8 percent. In terms of country-to-country variations, average yield loss in the analysis ranged between 15.7 percent in Ecuador and 45.7 percent in India, and included 37.3 percent, 37.2 percent, 36.5 percent, 26.7 percent and in Cameroon, Kenya, Ethiopia and Ghana, respectively. It should be noted that these losses do not include quality losses and are based on field/plot-level measurements at various scales (no standardized scales), and with variable numbers of observations in the different countries. This notwithstanding, some of the results corroborate recent findings, for example, by Abro *et al.* (2021) who estimated yield losses of 36 percent in Ethiopia through triangulation methods. Notably, different methods have yielded different yield loss estimates, for example, in Zimbabwe, yield loss to maize was estimated at 58 percent from farmer perceptions in 2017 (Chimweta *et al.* 2019), and 12 percent from rigorous analysis of field data in 2018 (Baudron *et al.* 2019), implying that farmers' perceptions might overestimate yield losses (Overton *et al.*, 2021).

4.3 Pest pressure, severity of crop damage and yield loss

Results of the analysis showed that maize grain yield loss tended to increase with the increase in plant damage severity, measured through a damage rating scale (although this was not statistically significant, with a p value greater than 0.05), with one unit increase in damage rating score being associated with approximately 10 percent increase in yield loss (proportion) (Figure 3). A much stronger and statistically significant relationship (p<0.05) was observed with studies that reported damage as a proportion of plants with a damage rating greater than 3, i.e. plants showing damage ranging from small elongated and a few mid-sized elongated lesions on a whorl to those with a whorl almost totally destroyed (Davis *et al.*, 1992; Figure 4). This implies that once damage to a plant reaches a certain level, the impact on yields is likely to be significant. Additionally, yield losses seemed to be influenced by pest infestation level, measured as the number of FAW larvae per plant, although the relationship was not statistically significant (data not shown).



Figure 3. Line of best fit when total yield loss (proportion) is regressed on plant damage rating

Source: Authors' own elaboration based on FAO data.

Figure 4. Line of best fit for maize crop when yield loss (proportion) is regressed on plants with damage rating greater than three





4.4 Climate change and fall armyworm

Climate change models, including versions of climatic niche modelling in future climate scenarios in CLIMEX and MaxEnt, predict that under the current climate, there is an increased risk of global FAW invasion and establishment, with climatic suitability occurring in many parts of Africa, South and Southeast Asia, southeastern parts of China, the north coast of Australia, and a few pockets in Europe (Zacarias,

2020; Timilsena *et al.*, 2022; Ramasamy *et al.*, 2022). Further projections (up to the year 2080) suggest that the FAW invasive range will retract towards the equator from the northern and southern regions mainly due to climatic factors, particularly temperature. However, large parts of eastern and central Africa will remain conducive for the pest, thus serving as 'hotspots' from where FAW might migrate to areas projected to be unsuitable for its establishment. Furthermore, projections suggest that places such as southern Mediterranean Europe with large areas where FAW host plants are cultivated, together with parts of southern Italy, Spain and Portugal, are at risk of invasion and establishment of FAW. Indeed, FAW was reported in the Canary Islands in April 2021.

4.5 Proposed model

There are only a few studies on economic losses due to FAW in Africa and Asia. Additionally, the analyses have mostly been on single crops (mainly maize), and only on quantity losses. There is a need to consider all key crops attacked by FAW and to include quality losses as well as lost trade opportunities (Murray *et al.*, 2013; Day *et al.*, 2017), for example those brought about by stringent phytosanitary requirements for exporting farm products to Europe (Jeger *et al.*, 2018). This is needed for understanding the real economic impact of the pest. Below is a proposed modelling framework that could be applied to estimate the direct economic yield loss potential of FAW in the field in the absence of management (Overton *et al.*, 2021), with yield loss, FAW control and quality losses as the key measurement variables:

$$ELP_{(FAW)} = YL_{\Sigma(Cr1, Cr2, \dots Crn)} + FC_{\Sigma Cr1 + \Sigma Cr2, \dots + \Sigma Crn} + QL_{\Sigma(Cr1, Cr2, \dots Crn)}$$

where *ELP* is the economic loss potential resulting from FAW invasion; *YL* is the monetary value of yield loss attributed to FAW for crops 1, 2 ...n; *FC* is the cost of FAW control in crops 1, 2...n, taking into account costs of various control options applied on each crop; *QL* is the quality loss attributed to FAW for crops 1, 2...n, taking into account the economic value of the produce whose quality is either reduced or lost due to FAW for each crop.

This accounting framework can be escalated to larger scales by adding variables such as production risk indices and product values at the various scales. The model does not include lost trade opportunities due to FAW. It also does not take into consideration the other value chain actors that are affected by reduced yields, for example livestock farmers who might be affected by FAW-induced reductions in maize stover quality and quantity.

5 Conclusions towards sustainable management of fall armyworm

FAO, CABI and other partners have established global monitoring, risk assessment and early warning systems that include national and regional subsystems. The frameworks include scouting as a basis for deploying FAW management tactics, and promotion of regional and global cooperation and information sharing. This is buttressed by the Fall Armyworm Monitoring and Early Warning System (FAMEWS) package that supports pest prevention and control, and surveillance and diagnosis efforts. To improve the performance of these efforts, and to make them more focused and effective, there is a need to (i) develop standardized tools (quantitative and qualitative) for subnational, national and global data collection as described above; (ii) enhance use of the information to create risk models and maps (e.g. Lowry *et al.*, 2022), as well as information briefs to guide action at the various levels; (iii) build capacity of stakeholders on the various aspects of the framework, including application of the standardized tools, data collation and interpretation to guide actions; and (iv) ensure an effective policy environment and coordination at the various levels, as well as phytosanitary measures to prevent further introduction and spread of FAW and other invasive pests.

The assessment shows that FAW is a serious threat to agriculture globally, and with projections that it will make the economies of countries, particularly in Africa and Asia, increasingly vulnerable to poverty as climate change-driven stressors become more severe. To date, FAW's impact on agriculture has been measured in diverse ways, making the collation of evidence across studies and scales, as well as extrapolations, impossible. Moreover, pest infestation has typically been measured using the proportion of plants with FAW-induced foliar damage symptoms, a measure that does not seem to correlate with the extent of yield loss in maize. Although derived from plot-based data, the analysis has shown that plant damage, especially for those at a rating score of 3 and above, is a good measure of the impact of FAW on maize as it corelates with the extent of yield loss. There is also a need to build capacity at the various levels supported by an effective coordination mechanism as proposed above.

Finally, the invasion of Africa, Asia, Australia and Europe by FAW provides insights into global movements of invasive pests and pathogens of plants, animals and humans, with trade as a possible route of entry of such species into new areas. Therefore, as global trade expands to increase economic growth, the threat of invasive species needs to be kept in mind. The system described above should encompass improved biosecurity preparedness and strategies that include effective monitoring, surveillance and response systems, not only for FAW but for detecting and managing other such pests at the national, regional, continental and global level, together with an effective coordination system.

References

Abrahams, P., Bateman, M., Beale, T., Clottey, V., Cock, M., Colemenarez, Y., Corniani, N. *et al.* 2017. *Fall armyworm: impacts and implications for Africa. Evidence Note.* 2. CABI. www.invasive-species.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2019/02/FAW-Evidence-Note-October-2018.pdf

Abro, Z., Kimathi, E., De Groote, H., Tefera, T., Sevgan, S., Niassy, S. & Kassie, M. 2021. Socioeconomic and health impacts of fall armyworm in Ethiopia. *PLOS ONE*, 16(11): e0257736. doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0257736

Agboyi, L.K., Layodé, B.F.R., Fening, K.O., Beseh, P., Clottey, V.A., Day, R., Kenis, M. & Babendreier, D. 2021. Assessing the Potential of Inoculative Field Releases of *Telenomus remus* to Control *Spodoptera frugiperda* in Ghana. *Insects*, 12(8): 665. doi.org/10.3390/insects12080665

Altieri, M.A., Francis, C.A., Van Schoonhoven, A. & Doll, J.D. 1978. A review of insect prevalence in maize (Zea mays L.) and bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) polycultural systems. *Field Crops Research*, 1: 33–49.

Aniwanou, C.T.S., Sinzogan, A.A.C., Deguenon, J.M., Sikirou, R., Stewart, D.A. & Ahanchede, A. 2021. Bio-Efficacy of Diatomaceous Earth, Household Soaps, and Neem Oil against *Spodoptera frugiperda* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) Larvae in Benin. *Insects*, 12(1): 18. doi.org/10.3390/insects12010018

Babendreier, D., Koku Agboyi, L., Beseh, P., Osae, M., Nboyine, J., Ofori, S.E.K., Frimpong, J.O., Attuquaye Clottey, V. & Kenis, M. 2020. The Efficacy of Alternative, Environmentally Friendly Plant Protection Measures for Control of Fall Armyworm, *Spodoptera Frugiperda*, in Maize. *Insects*, 11(4): 240. doi.org/10.3390/insects11040240

Baudron, F., Zaman-Allah, M.A., Chaipa, I., Chari, N. & Chinwada, P. 2019. Understanding the factors influencing fall armyworm (*Spodoptera frugiperda* J.E. Smith) damage in African smallholder maize fields and quantifying its impact on yield. A case study in Eastern Zimbabwe. *Crop Protection*, 120: 141–150. doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2019.01.028

Bilbo, T.R., Reay-Jones, F.P.F. & Greene, J.K. 2020. Evaluation of Insecticide Thresholds in Late-Planted Bt and Non-Bt Corn for Management of Fall Armyworm (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). *Journal of Economic Entomology*, 113(2): 814–823. doi.org/10.1093/jee/toz364

Britz, C. 2020. *Relationship between Spodoptera frugiperda (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) damage and yield loss in maize (Masters Thesis)*. Potchefstroom, South Africa, North-West University.

Burtet, L.M., Bernardi, O., Melo, A.A., Pes, M.P., Strahl, T.T. & Guedes, J.V. 2017. Managing fall armyworm, *Spodoptera frugiperda* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae), with Bt maize and insecticides in southern Brazil: Managing *S. frugiperda* with Bt maize and insecticides. *Pest Management Science*, 73(12): 2569–2577. doi.org/10.1002/ps.4660

Chimweta, M., Nyakudya, I.W., Jimu, L. & Bray Mashingaidze, A. 2020. Fall armyworm [*Spodoptera frugiperda* (J.E. Smith)] damage in maize: management options for flood-recession cropping smallholder farmers. *International Journal of Pest Management*, 66(2): 142–154. doi.org/10.1080/09670874.2019.1577514

Cruz, I. & Turpin, F.T. 1983. Yield impact of larval infestations of the fall armyworm (Lepidoptera:Noctuidae) to midwhorl growth stage of corn. Journal of Economic Entomology (USA). 1052–1054. doi.org/10.1093/jee/76.5.1052

Cruz, I., Figueiredo, M.L.C., Oliveira, A.C. & Vasconcelos, C.A. 1999. Damage of Spodoptera frugiperda (Smith) in different maize genotypes cultivated in soil under three levels of aluminium saturation. *International Journal of Pest Management*, 45(4): 293–296. doi.org/10.1080/096708799227707

Davis, F.M., Ng, S.S. & Williams, W.P. 1992. Visual rating scales for screening whorl-stage corn for resistance to fall armyworm. *Mississippi Agric. and Forestry Exp. Stn. Tech. Bull.* 186:9.

Day, R., Abrahams, P., Bateman, M., Beale, T., Clottey, V., Cock, M., Colmenarez, Y. *et al.* 2017. Fall Armyworm: Impacts and Implications for Africa. *Outlooks on Pest Management,* 28(5): 196–201. doi.org/10.1564/v28_oct_02

Deshmukh, S., Pavithra, H.B., Kalleshwaraswamy, C.M., Shivanna, B.K., Maruthi, M.S. & Mota-Sanchez, D. 2020. Field Efficacy of Insecticides for Management of Invasive Fall Armyworm, *Spodoptera frugiperda* (J. E. Smith) (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) on Maize in India. *Florida Entomologist,* 103(2): 221–227. doi.org/10.1653/024.103.0211

Early, R., González-Moreno, P., Murphy, S.T. & Day, R. 2018. Forecasting the global extent of invasion of the cereal pest *Spodoptera frugiperda*, the fall armyworm. *NeoBiota*, 40: 25–50. doi.org/10.3897/neobiota.40.28165

Goergen, G., Kumar, P.L., Sankung, S.B., Togola, A. & Tamò, M. 2016. First Report of Outbreaks of the Fall Armyworm *Spodoptera frugiperda* (J E Smith) (Lepidoptera, Noctuidae), a New Alien Invasive Pest in West and Central Africa. *PLOS ONE*, 11(10): e0165632. doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0165632

Guera, O.G.M., Castrejón-Ayala, F., Robledo, N., Jiménez-Pérez, A., Sánchez-Rivera, G., Salazar-Marcial, L. & Flores Moctezuma, H.E. 2021. Effectiveness of Push–Pull Systems to Fall Armyworm (Spodoptera frugiperda) Management in Maize Crops in Morelos, Mexico. Insects, 12(4): 298. doi.org/10.3390/insects12040298

Hruska, A.J. & Gladstone, S.M. 1988. Effect of Period and Level of Infestation of the Fall Armyworm, *Spodoptera frugiperda*, on Irrigated Maize Yield. *The Florida Entomologist*, 71(3): 249–254. doi.org/10.2307/3495428

IPPC Secretariat. 2021. Scientific review of the impact of climate change on plant pests – A global challenge to prevent and mitigate plant pest risks in agriculture, forestry and ecosystems. FAO on behalf of the IPPC Secretariat. https://doi.org/10.4060/cb4769en

Jeger, M., Bragard, C., Caffier, D., Candresse, T., Chatzivassiliou, E., Dehnen-Schmutz, K., Gilioli, G. *et al.* 2018. Pest risk assessment of *Spodoptera frugiperda* for the European Union. *EFSA Journal*, 16(8): e05351. doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2018.5351

Kenis, M., Benelli, G., Biondi, A., Calatayud, P.-A., Day, R., Desneux, N., Harrison, R.D. *et al.* 2022. Invasiveness, biology, ecology, and management of the fall armyworm, Spodoptera frugiperda. *Entomologia Generalis*, 102198. doi.org/10.1127/entomologia/2022/1659 Koffi, D., Kyerematen, R., Abrigo, M., Amouzou, K. & Eziah, V.Y. 2022. Assessment of *Bacillus thuringiensis* and emamectin benzoate on the fall armyworm *Spodoptera frugiperda* (J. E. Smith) (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) severity on maize under farmers' fields in Ghana. *International journal of tropical insect science*, 42(2): 1619–1626. doi.org/10.1007/s42690-021-00683-5

Liu, T., Wang, J., Hu, X. & Feng, J. 2020. Land-use change drives present and future distributions of Fall armyworm, *Spodoptera frugiperda* (J.E. Smith) (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). *The Science of the Total Environment*, 706: 135872. doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135872

Meagher, J.R., Nuessly, G.S., Nagoshi, R.N. & Hay-Roe, M.M. 2016 Parasitoids attacking fall armyworm (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) in sweet corn habitats. Biological Control, 95: 66–72. doi.org/10.1016/j.biocontrol.2016.01.006

Montezano, D.G., Specht, A., Sosa-Gómez, D.R., Roque-Specht, V.F., Sousa-Silva, J.C., Paula-Moraes, S.V., Peterson, J.A. & Hunt, T.E. 2018. Host Plants of *Spodoptera frugiperda* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) in the Americas. *African Entomology*, 26(2): 286–300. doi.org/10.4001/003.026.0286

Murray, D.A.H., Clarke, M.B. & Ronning, D.A. 2013. *The Current and Potential Costs of Invertebrate Pests in Grain Crops*. Grains Research and Development Corporation.

Nagoshi, R.N., Goergen, G., Koffi, D., Agboka, K., Adjevi, A.K.M., Du Plessis, H., Van Den Berg, J. *et al.* 2022. Genetic studies of fall armyworm indicate a new introduction into Africa and identify limits to its migratory behavior. *Scientific Reports*, 12(1): 1941. doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-05781-z

Njeru, N.K., Midega, C.A.O., Muthomi, J.W., Wagacha, J.M. & Khan, Z.R. 2020. Impact of push–pull cropping system on pest management and occurrence of ear rots and mycotoxin contamination of maize in western Kenya. *Plant Pathology*, 69(9): 1644–1654. doi.org/10.1111/ppa.13259

Osae, M.Y., Frimpong, J.O., Sintim, J.O., Offei, B.K., Marri, D. & Ofori, S.E.K. 2022. Evaluation of Different Rates of Ampligo Insecticide against Fall Armyworm (*Spodoptera frugiperda* (JE Smith); Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) in the Coastal Savannah Agroecological Zone of Ghana. *Advances in Agriculture*, 2022: 1–14. doi.org/10.1155/2022/5059865

Overton, K., Maino, J.L., Day, R., Umina, P.A., Bett, B., Carnovale, D., Ekesi, S., Meagher, R. & Reynolds, O.L. 2021. Global crop impacts, yield losses and action thresholds for fall armyworm (*Spodoptera frugiperda*): A review. *Crop Protection*, 145: 105641. doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2021.105641

Pereira, C.J. & Lee Hellman, J. 1993. Economic Injury Levels for *Spodoptera frugiperda* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) on Silage Corn in Maryland. *Journal of Economic Entomology*, 86(4): 1266–1270. doi.org/10.1093/jee/86.4.1266

Prasanna, B.M., Huesing, J.E., Eddy, R. & Peschke, V.M. 2018. Fall armyworm in Africa: a guide for integrated pest management. 1st edition. Mexico, CIMMYT. https://repository.cimmyt.org/handle/10883/19204

Pretty, J., Benton, T.G., Bharucha, Z.P., Dicks, L.V., Flora, C.B., Godfray, H.C.J., Goulson, D. *et al.* 2018. Global assessment of agricultural system redesign for sustainable intensification. *Nature Sustainability* 1: 441–446.

Ramasamy, M., Das, B. & Ramesh, R. 2022. Predicting climate change impacts on potential worldwide distribution of fall armyworm based on CMIP6 projections. *Journal of Pest Science*, 95(2): 841–854. doi.org/10.1007/s10340-021-01411-1

Ramirez-Cabral, N.Y.Z., Kumar, L. & Shabani, F. 2017. Future climate scenarios project a decrease in the risk of fall armyworm outbreaks. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, 155(8): 1219–1238. doi.org/10.1017/S0021859617000314

Tambo, J.A., Kansiime, M.K., Rwomushana, I., Mugambi, I., Nunda, W., Mloza Banda, C., Nyamutukwa, S., Makale, F. & Day, R. 2021. Impact of fall armyworm invasion on household income and food security in Zimbabwe. *Food and Energy Security*, 10(2): 299–312. doi.org/10.1002/fes3.281

Tanyi, C.B., Nkongho, R.N., Okolle, J.N., Tening, A.S. & Ngosong, C. 2020. Effect of Intercropping Beans with Maize and Botanical Extract on Fall Armyworm (*Spodoptera frugiperda*) Infestation. *International Journal of Agronomy*, 2020: e4618190. doi.org/10.1155/2020/4618190

Tay, W.T., Rane, R.V., Padovan, A., Walsh, T.K., Elfekih, S., Downes, S., Nam, K. *et al.* 2022. Global population genomic signature of *Spodoptera frugiperda* (fall armyworm) supports complex introduction events across the Old World. *Communications Biology*, 5(1): 1–15. doi.org/10.1038/s42003-022-03230-1

Teixeira Silva, C.L., Paiva, L.A., Correa, F., Silva, F.C., Pelosi, A.P., Silva Araujo, M.D., Sousa Almeida, A.C.D. & Jesus, F.G. 2020. Interaction between Corn Genotypes with Bt Protein and Management Strategies for *Spodoptera frugiperda* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). *Florida Entomologist,* 102(4): 725. doi.org/10.1653/024.102.0409

Timilsena, P.B., Niassy, S., Kimathi, E., Abdel-Rahman, E.M., Seidl-Adams, I., Wamalwa, M., Tonnang, H.E.Z. *et al.* 2022. Potential distribution of fall armyworm in Africa and beyond, considering climate change and irrigation patterns. *Scientific Reports,* 12(1): 539. doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-04369-3

Trumble, J.T., Kolodny-Hirsch, D.M. & Ting, I.P. 1993. Plant Compensation for Arthropod Herbivory. *Annual Review of Entomology*, 38(1): 93–119. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.en.38.010193.000521

Wyckhuys, K.A.G., Lu, Y., Zhou, W., Cock, M.J.W., Steven, E.N., Fereti, A., Williams, F.E. & Furlong, M.J. 2020. Ecological pest control fortifies agricultural growth in Asia–Pacific economies. Nature Ecology and Evolution. 4: 1522–1530. doi.org/10.1038/s41559-020-01294-y

Yang, X., Wyckhuys, K.A., Jia, X., Nie, F. & Wu, K. 2021. Fall armyworm invasion heightens pesticide expenditure among Chinese smallholder farmers. Journal of Environmental Management, 282. doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2021.111949

Zacarias, D.A. 2020. Global bioclimatic suitability for the fall armyworm, *Spodoptera frugiperda* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae), and potential co-occurrence with major host crops under climate change scenarios. *Climatic Change*, 161(4): 555–566. doi.org/10.1007/s10584-020-02722-5

Contact:

Statistics Division – Economic and Social Development FAO-statistics@fao.org www.fao.org/food-agriculture-statistics/resources/publications/working-papers/en/

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Rome, Italy

